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tion proceeding. In both the proceed­
ings before the State Industrial Board 
of Oklahoma, which is part of the record 
on appeal, and the appellate proceedings 
in the Supreme Court of Oklahoma, J ef­
fries Truck Lines, Inc. v. Minyen, 470 
P.2d 990 (0kl.1970), the issue at stake 
was whether Minyen's death arose out 
of and in the course of his hazardous 
employment. To this end, the tribunals' 
and presumably the parties' interest was 
exclusively in whether Minyen was en­
gaged in an activity within the scope of 
his lease . contract or employment on 
April 7, when he fell while fixing his 
fellow driver's truck lights. No other 
issues are reflected in the records of the 
compensation proceedings which are 
available to us on this appeal. More­
over, the cross-examination of Minyen in 
the deposition (which was a part of the 
record on appeal but was not admitted 
into evidence) appears to be centered on 
Minyen's employment relationship at the 
time of the accidental fall. Hence it is 
abundantly clear that the employment is­
sue in the compensation case was signif­
icantly different from the issues posed 
in the trial court in the instant case, 
such that the corresponding party-oppo­
nents shared little common interest. 
Accordingly, the trial court properly ex­
cluded the deposition from evidence. 

Affirmed. 
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et al., Defendants-Appellants. 
No. 27842. 

United States Court of Appeals, 
Fifth Circuit. 
June 8, 1971. 

In a joint trial before the United 
States District Court for the Southern 

District of Florida, at Miami, William 
0. Mehrtens, J., all nine defendants. were 
convicted of unlawfully and knowingly 
conspiring to violate statute which pro­
hibits knowingly and willfully causing 
damage by placing bombs upon or firing 
at a vessel of foreign registry within 
the jurisdiction of the United States, 
three defendants were convicted of in­
juring a vessel of foreign registry by 
firing a recoilless rifle and one defend­
ant was convicted of conveying threats 
by telegram to damage ships and planes 
of foreign countries and the defendants 
appealed. The Court of Appeals, Clark, 
Circuit Judge, held that where defend­
ants did not move for continuance, de­
fendants were not denied due process due 
to alleged inadequate time to prepare 
for trial because copies of tape recorded 
conversations and translated transcripts 
were not delivered to defendants until 
night before trial. 

Affirmed. 

1. Judges ce?51(4) 
Trial court did not err in denying 

defendants' motion for recusal on 
grounds· of trial court's bias and preju­
dice against defendants. 

2. Searches and Seizures ce?7 (27) 
Where informer consented to clan­

destine electronic surveillance, tape 
recordings of conversations between in­
former and the defendants did not vio­
late defendants' Fourth Amendment 
rights; U.S.C.A.Const. Amend. 4. 

3. Constitutional Law ce?268(3) 
Where defendants did not move for 

continuance, defendants were not denied 
due process due to alleged inadequate 
time to prepare for trial because copies 
of tape recorded conversations and 
translated transcripts were not delivered 
to defendants until night before trial. 
U.S.C.A.Const. Amend. 5. 

4. Criminal Law ce?438 
Tape recordings which are partially 

inaudible are not inadmissible per se un­
less the unintelligible portions are so 
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substantial as to render the recording as CLARK, Circuit Judge: 
a whole untrustworthy. Orlando Bosch Avila, Andres Jorge 

5. Criminal Law €:::>438 
Admissibility of tape recordings 

which are partially inaudible is within 
sound discretion of trial judge. 

6. Criminal Law €:::>438 
Trial court did not abuse its discre­

tion by admitting partially inaudible 
tape recording where there was ample 
basis for determination that tapes and 
translated transcripts were accurate re­
production of conversations they pur­
ported to reproduce and the person who 
carried the recording device appeared as 
witness in trial and was subject to 
cross-examination. 

7. Courts €:::>100(1) 
United States Supreme Court deci­

sion of Chimel v. California, relating to 
search as incident to arrest, was not ap­
plicable retroactively to searches con­
ducted prior to June 23, 1969. U.S.C.A. 
Const. Amend. 4. 

8. Arrest €:::>71.1 ( 4) 
Where search and seizure of 26 and 

39 items, respectively, under warrants 
which authorized seizure of 2 to 5 items 
occurred prior to United States Supreme 
Court decision pertaining to search as 
incident to arrest, seizure of the various 
items was justified as occurring in the 
course of an arrest even though the 
items were not in defendant's reach at 
time of th"e arrest. U.S.C.A.Const. 
Amend. 4. 

Melvyn Greenspahn, Ser, Greenspahn, 
Keyfetz & Gallagher, Daniel Neal Heller, 
Miami, Fla., for defendants-appellants. 

William A. Meftdows, Jr., U. S. Atty., 
Donald I. Bierman, Theodore Klein, Asst. 
U. S. Attys., Miami, Fla., for plaintiff­
appellee. 

Before JOHN R. BROWN, Chief 
Judge, and COLEMAN and CLARK, 
Circuit Judges. 
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Gonzalez, Barbaro Balan Garcia, Marco 
Rodriguez Ramos, Jesus Dominguez 
Benitez, Jose Diaz Morejon, Jorge Luis 
Gutierrez Ulla, Paulina Gutierrez, and 
Aimee Miranda Cruz were charged in a 
five count indictment. Count I charged 
Bosch and the other eight defendants vi­
olated 18 U.S.C.A. § 371 (1966) by un­
lawfully and knowingly conspiring with 
each other to violate 18 U.S.C.A. § 2275 
(1970), which precludes knowingly and 
wilfully causing damage by placing 
bombs upon or firing at a vessel of for­
eign registry within the jurisdiction of 
the United States. Count II charged 
Bosch, Balan, and Morejon with actually 
injuring a vessel of foreign registry by 
firing a recoilless rifle at the SS PO­
LANCIA in violation of Section 2275. 
Counts III, IV, and V charged only 
Bosch with conveying threats by tele­
gram to damage the ships and planes of 
Mexico, Spain and England in violation 
of 18 U.S.C.A. § 837(d) (1966), which 
precludes conveying threats by telegram 
to damage real and personal property. 
Although the defendants entered pleas 
of not guilty, the jury returned verdicts 
of guilty as to all defendants on all 
counts charged. Since we find that no 
reversible error has been committed in 
the trial court, we affirm all convictions 
of all defendants. 

The following factual distillate is suf­
ficient to frame the issues presented to 
this court for review. The instant case 
grew out of activity in the area of Mi­
ami, Florida by certain free Cuban offi­
cials who were opposed to the regime of 
Fidel Castro in that country. A govern­
ment informer, Morales, testified that in 
April 1968 he first met and became in­
volved with a group known as Cuban 
Power and its leader, Bosch, who used 
the pseudonym, Ernesto. Morales met 
with and assisted this group over a peri­
od of several months, during which time 
Morales was under supervision and sur­
veillance by the Federal Bureau of In­
vestigation. In the course of his deal­
ings, Morales supplied the Cuban Power 
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organization, at their request, with dy­
namite which had secretly been prepared 
to be inert and had been specially 
marked so that it might later be identi­
fied. The defendants admit receiving 
some of these deliveries, but they con­
tend that they were to be sent to Cuba. 
Morales testified that the defendants 
were, during this time, blowing up ships 
of foreign registry in the United States. 

On another occasion, Morales testified 
he was called upon to help assemble a 57 
millimeter recoilless rifle, which was to 
be used against the SS POLANCIA. 
Morales further testified that Balan and 
Morejon actually fired the rifle as he 
and Bosch watched. 

Subsequent to these incidents, there 
were several meetings during which the 
bombings and the firing of the rifle, to­
gether with future plans, were dis­
cussed. Morales, equipped with elec­
tronic eavesdropping equipment, secretly 
recorded these conversations on four oc­
casions. These recordings, having been 
translated from Spanish to English, 
were later introduced in evidence 
against the defendants at their trial. 

In addition to the testimony of Mor­
ales and the tape recordings, the Gov­
ernment introduced other highly incrim­
inating evidence. This included a bomb, 
recovered from the underside of a for­
eign vessel. This bomb was constructed 
with the dummy dynamite delivered to 
the Bosch group. It also contained 
sponge rubber, the edges of which per­
fectly matched the edges of a piece of 
the same material recovered from 
Bosch's car. Additionally, the newspa­
per found inside the bomb bore the palm 
print of two of the defendants. 

There was additional testimony identi­
fying Bosch as the sender of a number 
of telegrams, all signed "Ernesto, Gener­
al Delegate, Cuban Power." These tele­
grams were sent to the heads of state of 
Mexico, Spain, and England and threat­
ened harm to the planes and ships of 
these countries for engaging in trade 
with the Castro government of Cuba. 

Among the defendant's pretrial mo­
tions was a motion for recusal directed 
at the presiding judge. This motion 
was made on the grounds that the judge 
had evinced a personal bias and preju­
dice toward each of the defendants and 
their counsel. At oral argument before 
this court, the parties stipulated that the 
trial judge entered no written order 
refusing to recuse himself, but an­
nounced from the bench that he had de­
termined he was not disqualified and 
that it was his duty to continue. 

During the trial, the defense made 
motions to suppress the testimony of the 
informer, Morales. Additionally, an 
objection was lodged to the introduction 
of the tape recordings and translations 
into evidence. All of the motions and 
the objections were overrruled. 

The defendants set forth three appel­
late contentions, which assertedly war­
rant the reversal of the trial court. Re­
duced to fundamentals, these specifica­
tions are that: 

1. The District Court erred in deny­
ing the defendants' motion for re­
cusal on the grounds of the 
Court's bias and prejudice against 
the defendants. 

2. The District Court erred in admit­
ting the tape recordings into evi­
dence because they were obtained 
in violation of the defendants' 
Fourth and Fifth Amendment 
rights. 

3. The federal agents exceeded the 
authority of their search war­
rants. 

I. THE RECUSAL ISSUE 

[1] A close examination of the 
record reveals that the defendants' at­
tack, which alleges bias and prejudice on 
the part of the trial judge, is simply not 
supported by any specific manifestations 
of such bias or prejudice. In fact, the 
defendants themselves cite only an order 
denying an appeal bond, entered long 
after the jury entered its verdict. The 
defendants also assert that the trial 
judge rushed the case to a trial five 
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weeks after the defendants' arrest. 
From this interval alone they may desire 
this court to infer some prejudice or 
bias against their causes; however, nei­
ther this period per se nor the record as 
a whole will support such an inference. 
The defendants themselves requested a 
speedy trial and did not request a con­
tinuance. In the face of their own ac­
tion, they will not now be heard to com­
plain of insufficient time in which to 
prepare their case. 

The defendants have wholly failed to 
carry the burden of demonstrating how 
any improper attitude of the trial judge 
manifested itself in judicial action 
which harmed their defense or prejudiced 
their rights. 

II. THE ELECTRONIC SURVEIL­
LANCE ISSUE 

[2] The defendants candidly admit 
in a supplemental brief that a decision 
rendered subsequent to oral argument is 
adverse to the argument originally ad­
vanced that the tape recordings and 
transcriptions should not have been ad­
mitted into evidence because they were 
obtained in violation of the defendants' 
Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights. 
The defendants originally argued that 
an informer's consent to clandestine 
electronic surveillance cannot waive the 
accused's Fourth Amendment rights. 
The United States Supreme Court has 
now expressly rejected this argument in 
United States v. White, 401 U.S. 745, 91 
S.Ct. 1122, 28 L.Ed.2d 453 (1971). 
Here the Supreme Court declared: 

Concededly a police agent who con­
ceals his police connections may write 
down for official use his conversations 
with a defendant a.nd testify concern­
ing them, without a warrant authoriz­
ing his encounters with the defendant 
and without otherwise violating the 
latter's Fourth Amendment rights. 
Hoffa v. United States, 385 U.S. 293, 
300-303, 87 S.Ct. 408, 412-414, 17 L. 
Ed.2d 374. For constitutional pur­
poses, no different result is required 
if the agent instead of immediately 
reporting and transcribing his conver-

sations with defendant, either (1) si­
multaneously records them with elec­
tronic equipment which he is carrying 
on his person, Lopez v; United States, 
[373 U.S. 427, 83 S.Ct. 1381, 10 L. 
Ed.2d 462], supra; (2) or carries ra­
dio equipment which simultaneously 
transmits the conversations either to 
recording equipment located elsewhere 
or to other agents monitoring the 
transmitting frequency. On Lee v. 
United States, [343 U.S. 747, 72 S.Ct. 
967, 96 L.Ed. 1270], supra. If the 
conduct and revelations of an agent 
operating without electronic equip­
ment do not invade the defendant's 
constitutionally justifiable expecta­
tions of privacy, neither does a simul­
taneous recording of the same conver­
sations made by the agent or by oth­
ers from transmissions received from 
the agent to whom the defendant is 
talking and whose trustworthiness the 
defendant necessarily risks. 

[3] Even faced with the White deci­
sion, the defendants still seek to exclude 
the tapes and transcripts. They now as­
sert that they were denied due process. 
The factors which allegedly deprived 
them of process otherwise due and fore­
stalled a fair trial, center on the lateness 
-the night before trial-of receiving 
the tapes and translated transcripts. 
This tardiness on the part of the gov­
ernment coupled with the vast bulk of 
the material is alleged to have prevented 
adequate trial preparation. As we have 
previously noted, the defendants made 
no motion for a continuance. We there­
fore reject this basis for excluding the 
tapes. 

[ 4-6] Additionally it is argued that 
the tapes should have been excluded be­
cause they were in a foreign language 
and were inaudible in many places. We 
also reject this argument. This Circuit 
has held that tape recordings which are 
partially inaudible are not inadmissible 
per se unless the unintelligible portions 
are so substantial as to render the 
recording as a whole untrustworthy. 
This determination is left to the sound 
discretion of the trial judge. Addison v. 
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United States, 317 F .2d 808, 815 (5th 
Cir. 1963). In the instant case there 
was ample basis for the trial court's de­
termination that the tapes and the 
translated transcripts were an accurate 
reproduction of the conversation they 
purported to reproduce. This basis is of 
course bolstered by the fact that the 
person who carried the recording device 
appeared as a witness in the trial and 
was subject to cross-examination. 

III. THE SEARCH WARRANT IS­
SUE 

Finally, the defendants contend that 
the government agents exceeded the au­
thority of their search warrants. It is 
their contention that the two warrants 
in question authorized the seizure of 2 
and 5 items and that, respectively, 26 
and 39 items were seized under such 
warrants. Since these items were not in 
Bosch's reach at the time of his arrest, 
to seize them without a warrant is 
claimed to be a violation of the stric­
tures of Chime! v. California, 395 U.S. 
752, 89 S.Ct. 2034, 23 L.Ed.2d 685 
(1969). 

[7, 8] The defendants reliance on 
Chimel is misplaced. The Supreme 
Court has recently held that Chimel is 
not to be applied retroactively and 
should not be applied to searches con­
ducted prior to the date of that decision 
-June 23, 1969. Williams v. United 
States, 401 U.S. 646, 91 S.Ct. 1148, 28 
L.Ed.2d 388 (1971). The search in the 
instant case occurred prior to the deci­
sion in Chimel. Under the law existing 
contemporaneous to the search, the sei­
zure of the various items would have 
been justified as occurring in the course 
of an arrest. United States v. Rabino­
witz, 339 U.S. 56, 70 S.Ct. 430, 94 L.Ed. 
653 (1950); Harris v. United States, 
331 U.S. 145, 67 S.Ct. 1098, 91 L.Ed. 
1399 (1947) 

IV. CONCLUSION 

We have carefully considered each 
point raised by the defendants and have 
tested it against the record and the law 

----~~- ---- ---~---------

applicable to the matter in controversy. 
We are satisfied that there was no bias 
on the part of the trial judge, that the 
tapes and transcripts were properly ad­
mitted, and that the agents did not en­
gage in an illegal search and seizure. 
The judgment of the trial court is there­
fore 

Affirmed. 

CARmOU FOUR CORNERS, lNC., How· 
ard Williams, United States Fidelity 
and Guaranty Company, Plaintiffs·AP· 
pellees, 

v. 
TRUCK INSURANCE EXCHANGE, 

Defendant-Appellant and Cross­
Appellee, 

and 
Imperial Casualty and Indemnity Compa­

ny, Defendant-Appellant and Cross­
Appellant. 

Nos. 109-70, no-7o. 

United States Court of Appeals, 
Tenth Circuit. 
June 10, 1971. 

Declaratory judgment action to de­
termine liability of three insurance car­
riers. The United States District Court 
for the District of Utah, Northern Divi­
sion, A. Sherman Christensen, J ., deter­
mined that all policies afforded coverage 
and that two of such policies were pri­
mary. Appeal was taken. The Court of 
Appeals, Breitenstein, Circuit Judge, 
held that where accident, which occurred 
when crane operated by oil company's 
employee and used to unload pipe from 
truck struck power line and electrical 
discharge burned truck driver, took 
place on public street 550 feet from 
boundary of insured's premises, exclusion 
of comprehensive liability policy, which 
had been issued to truck driver's em­
ployer, to effect that policy excluded 
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